
BOARD OF SELECTMEN

MEETING MINUTES

March 20, 2006

PRESENT:

Mark Kaplan, Chair, Board of Selectmen

Douglas W. Lyon, Selectman

Ruth I. Clough, Selectman

Jessie Levine, Town Administrator

OTHERS PRESENT:

Cotton M. Cleveland, Town Moderator

Linda Hardy, Town Clerk/Tax Collector

Peter Stanley, Zoning Administrator

Carolyn Pierzchala, New London resident

Bob and DJ Lavoie, New London residents

Debbie Cross, Intertown Record

Carolyn Dube, Argus Champion

Chair Kaplan called the meeting to order at 8:04 AM.

Meeting Minutes: Ms. Clough moved to approve the minutes of March 13, 2006.  Second Chair Kaplan

and approved 2-0 (Mr. Lyon had not arrived).

Town Meeting Recap: The Board of Selectmen met with Town Moderator Cotton Cleveland and Town

Clerk Linda Hardy to review town elections and Town Meeting.  Chair Kaplan asked for input on what

went well and what could have gone better.  Ms. Cleveland commended Ms. Hardy and Deputy Town

Clerk Joan Pankhurst for their foresight in ordering enough ballots.  The Town had a record number of

voters for town elections at 1,526.  Ms. Clough noted that 53 new voters registered at the polls, many of

whom were first time voters.  Ms. Hardy said 45% of registered voters voted in this election, including

absentees.

Ms. Cleveland said she had spoken to the ballot clerks about adding alternate ballot clerks to train and

assist with elections, and the ballot clerks were supportive.  Ms. Cleveland said she would like to see

some new faces recruited to serve as alternates rather than doubling up on responsibilities of current

volunteers.  This led to a discussion about whether ballots clerks had to be equally split among Democrats

and Republicans.  Ms. Cleveland will investigate whether undeclared residents can serve as ballot clerks

and will draft a job description to educate people on the duties of the position.  She asked the Board of

Selectmen to confirm that all current ballot clerks had been properly appointed.

Chair Kaplan asked about the wait to check in to Town Meeting on Wednesday night.  Ms. Cleveland said

that process has been reviewed and changes will be made for the next year to avoid that problem.  Ms.

Cleveland said it would also be helpful to have someone who can do heavy lifting help at the end of the

election night.  Ms. Levine said this concern had been discussed at a staff meeting and will be addressed

for the next election.

Ms. Clough said she heard several comments about the Selectmen standing at the ballot box, and she

asked Ms. Cleveland if the Selectmen could be involved in the election in another manner.  Ms. Cleveland

said a Selectmen is required to be present to oversee the election but she would not be opposed to having

the Selectmen greet and assist people.  Ms. Levine asked if Ms. Cleveland would be concerned about the



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

March 20, 2006

Page 2 of 5

Selectman who is up for election being perceived as campaigning in the election hall, and Ms. Cleveland

said that it should be clear that the Selectmen are greeting people and helping them get through lines, etc.

She said usually residents want to see the Selectmen and use that time as an opportunity to talk to them.

Ms. Levine thought that might cause a bottleneck at the beginning as people stopped to talk to the

Selectman on duty.  Ms. Hardy pointed out that both she and Ms. Cleveland were up for election this

year, so if the incumbent were excluded it would create difficulty with running the elections.  Chair

Kaplan said he sees it from a practical point of view; he makes sure the ballots are inserted into the

machine without jamming, which happens if they are inserted improperly.  Ms. Cleveland agreed that

someone has to monitor the ballot machine, but it does not have to be a Selectman.

With respect to Town Meeting on Wednesday night, Ms. Hardy said there were 306 registered voters,

which was a fairly good turnout.  Ms. Levine said that it was one of the nicest feeling Town Meetings in

years.  Ms. Cleveland said people were patient with the wait at the beginning and the line moved fast once

it got going.  Ms. Clough said the circulation on the bond vote went well, and perhaps the lack of

discussion allowed people to concentrate on the process of voting.  Ms. Cleveland said she would not

have used that method (holding the ballot vote on the first bond until discussion on the second bond had

closed) if there had been any controversy over one of the bonds.

Ms. Cleveland asked to review the Town Meeting minutes prior to preparing for next year’s process.  Ms.

Levine said she will put the Town Meeting minutes on the Town’s website this year and will circulate by

e-mail.  Mr. Lyon said he had received requests asking for the Town Report to be issued earlier.  Ms.

Levine said the requirement is that it be available one week prior to town elections; usually the year-end

reports and warrant are the last portions to be completed and once those are done the book can be closed.

She would love to get the report out earlier.  She said that the warrant and zoning amendments were

available on the web in advance of the Town Report, and Ms. Hardy said they were also posted around

town and the Town Clerk’s office had sample ballots available.  Ms. Cleveland suggested advertising the

availability of those pieces before the Town Report comes out.  It was also agreed to add to the election

budget to put a sample ballot for elected offices in the Shopper.  Ms. Levine asked if the ballot could also

be included in the warrant in the Town Report, and all agreed that should be changed as well.  Ms. Levine

said the Selectmen’s and Town Clerk’s office do the best they can to reach the majority of people using

the website, e-mail, and advertising.  Ms. Cleveland said advertising with dates and times and telling

people where they can get more information should help get the word out.  She said it is fabulous to have

a community that cares so much.

Ms. Clough said she was sensitive to the votes on the mosquito funds and the veteran’s credit amendment,

as she thinks the votes would have gone differently with secret ballot.  She understands that a secret ballot

can be requested with five voter signatures, but asked Ms. Cleveland if it is also legal for the moderator to

call for a secret ballot or remind voters of their right to request one.  Ms. Cleveland said she could reread

the moderator’s rules at the beginning of Town Meeting and make it clear that five signatures are

required.  Chair Kaplan asked if the moderator could rule from the podium for a secret ballot, and Ms.

Cleveland will look into it.  This led to a discussion about ways to improve the counting of hand votes on

the floor.

Ms. Levine said she feels sorry for viewers that this will be the first videotaped Town Meeting, since it

was rather boring with little discussion.  Ms. Cleveland asked Ms. Levine to notify people on the e-mail

and Rec News lists as to when the tapings will be played.  Ms. Levine said she understands that the tape

will run in the “game of the week” spot on Channel 10 on the weekend of March 25.

Ms. Clough thanked Ms. Cleveland and Ms. Hardy for their hard work and for being on their feet for the

better part of two days.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

March 20, 2006

Page 3 of 5

Sheerr-Gross ZBA Decision: Chair Kaplan welcomed Zoning Administrator Peter Stanley and New

London resident Carolyn Pierzchala.  Ms. Levine referred to a letter from Martin Gross and Deirdre

Sheerr-Gross, who understand that this topic will be discussed in their absence (they are out-of-town).

Chair Kaplan asked Mr. Stanley to summarize the issue.  Mr. Stanley said in 2002, the Grosses applied to

the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a special exemption to cross a wetland and steep slopes to build a

driveway to access their house.  They shared an existing driveway but wanted to build a new driveway

due to a dispute with neighbors.  The Grosses owned a large lot, on which their house sits, and a smaller

undeveloped lot, and they would have to cross the smaller lot to get to the large lot with this new

driveway.  The driveway would preclude development of the smaller lot because of wetlands and other

issues, and the ZBA required as a condition of the special exception that the smaller lot be merged with

the larger lot.  Mr. Stanley followed up with the owners about a year later to remind them of the

requirement, and then mentioned it to them one other time.  Ms. Pierzchala recently brought to his

attention that the requirement had not been completed, and Mr. Stanley talked to Martin Gross about it.

That discussion resulted in this letter to the Selectmen stating the Grosses’ intention of completing the

merger and their request to the Selectmen for an extension until a legal dispute is resolved with the

neighbors.

The Selectmen discussed the letter and temporary alternatives to the merger, such as an easement or

covenant restricting the sale of the smaller lot.  Mr. Stanley said those options had also been discussed

with the ZBA in 2002 and the ZBA ultimately required the merger.

Chair Kaplan noted that the merger was required in 2002, and noted that if the lawsuit was filed after the

ZBA’s decision, then it should have nothing to do with the merger. Ms. Pierzchala said the lawsuit dealt

with the Grosses’ portion of snowplowing and maintenance for the shared driveway.  Ms. Levine said she

does not think it appropriate for the Selectmen to comment on the lawsuit, but noted that the ZBA

requirement did precede the lawsuit.  She said if the information about the lawsuit is going to affect the

Selectmen’s decision, then the Selectmen should wait until the Grosses return.  Otherwise, the Grosses

understand that the Selectmen’s decision will be based on their letter and the ZBA record.

Mr. Lyon said if the property had been merged in July 2002 as a result of the ZBA decision, then the lots

would have been merged and would not be an issue in this lawsuit.  They built their driveway with the

agreement to merge the lots and have failed to meet the requirement of the ZBA.  He sees this as an

enforcement action and the lawsuit and other intervening matters have nothing to do with it.  Chair

Kaplan agreed that the ZBA’s ruling required them to merge the two lots and their outside dispute in court

is their business and should have been done.  Ms. Clough agreed.

Ms. Levine asked Mr. Stanley to draft a letter to the Grosses that reflected the Selectmen’s decision.  He

asked the Selectmen if they would like to set a drop dead date, and the Selectmen approved a 60-day

deadline.

Bob Lavoie asked why this had not been done earlier and not caught earlier by the Town.  Ms. Levine

said that Mr. Stanley had informally asked the owners twice and then got busy with other things.  This is

a good example of the difficulty tracking and enforcing decisions and requirements.

Projects approved at Town Meeting: Ms. Levine said that Town Meeting approved a number of projects

that she wanted to review briefly:

• Street Light Conversion: Ms. Levine will contact PSNH and Mark Vernon to work on the conversion

contract and schedule a start date.  This led to a discussion about how to publicize which lights would

be removed under the conversion.  Ms. Levine said that residents were invited to a public discussion

of this project and only two came, and she has given out the list of lights upon request.  Ms. Clough

suggested putting a red X on the lights that would be eliminated, and Ms. Levine said she thinks that



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

March 20, 2006

Page 4 of 5

people have had the opportunity to review and comment on the lighting.  All of the lights that are

recommended for removal do not meet the street lighting guidelines recommended by the Street

Lighting Committee.  Mr. Lyon suggested waiting until after the conversion, when people could see

the effect of the new lights; the new lights might throw as much light as two old lights and people

might not miss the missing lights.  Chair Kaplan also agreed that the conversion should happen first

and we can handle problems and specific requests afterwards.  Ms. Levine said she knows that’s the

opposite of how things are usually handled, but she thinks there has been a lot of opportunity for

discussion on this project.  Mr. Lavoie asked if the street lights would be coordinated with school bus

stops, and Ms. Levine said she would follow-up with Tom Brennan.  However, school bus locations

change and will change again with the new middle school.

• Roundabout: Ms. Levine said there is another public forum on the roundabout on April 17 and asked

the Selectmen which venue they would like to use.  The Selectmen prefer Whipple Town Hall due to

its capacity.  The Selectmen discussed the focus of the presentation: should it present the two options,

as the previous presentations have done, or should it focus on the roundabout since the Selectmen

seem to favor that choice.  Mr. Lyon said he has done a lot of research to see if there are opinions

favoring a traffic light, and he can only find a growing body of evidence supporting the roundabout as

the safest solution.  Ms. Clough said she still favored giving people a right to a straw vote to express

their preference, and Ms. Levine said she would agree to a straw vote the evening of April 17 but

would not encourage a broader vote because people would not have the benefit of the presentation

and information and it would be a purely emotional vote.  Mr. Lyon will draft a link article to be

mailed out before April 17.  Ms. Levine said that they have been invited to speak to Rotary on May

12 and asked if this should also be the subject of the April 1 Citizen’s Advisory Committee meeting.

The selectmen agreed.  Bob Lavoie suggested that the presentation should be balanced on April 17.

The traffic lights are cheaper and would require less disruption (during construction) and less

maintenance, while the roundabout is safer.  Mr. Lyon agrees that there should be a balanced

presentation but thinks that it is time for the Selectmen to tell people that the roundabout is a better

solution.

• Dam gift: Ms. Levine said she will wait for Steph Wheeler to return from vacation to talk about the

next steps in negotiating the gift of the dam in Elkins (should be called the Tannery Mill Pond dam).

Mr. Lyon said the Town Meeting vote gives the Selectmen the authority to negotiate.  He would

recommend accepting the gift only if the Selectmen are convinced that there is significant support in

Town and there has been some consideration for a public/private partnership.  He said we will need to

cross our T’s and dot our I’s before we accept it, even if it takes several months to work out the

details.  He does not want this to be rushed and would like participation from people in Elkins during

the decision-making process.  Ms. Clough agreed that we will need to know the costs involved.  Ms.

Levine said it is possible that the project could be part of a grant application for improving the

sidewalks and creating a historic walkway in Elkins, as was discussed during the Elkins planning

discussion.  Mr. Lavoie noted that if the Town does not accept the gift, it is incumbent on the current

owners to fix the dam.  Mr. Lyon noted that they could breach it, which would require less

maintenance long-term.  Ms. Clough said another component besides the cost of repairing the dam is

the long-range plan for Elkins and enhancement of the village.  There are lots of reasons why Town

ownership of the dam is a good idea.

• Town Hall basement: Ms. Levine said that asbestos was found on the ceiling of the old furnace room

and in the tiles in the old bathroom.  She will talk to an asbestos removal contractor.  Demolition is

continuing and once it is at a good stopping point we can start working on plans to bring to Town

Meeting next year.

• Landfill repair: Ms. Levine said she will work with the engineers to go to bid on the landfill repairs.



Selectmen’s Meeting Minutes

March 20, 2006

Page 5 of 5

Ms. Levine said there are other projects as well but these are the ones that floated to the top.

Legislative Session: Ms. Levine said the New Hampshire Municipal Association is about to start

considering legislation to propose in the 2007 legislative session.  She asked the Selectmen to think about

law changes.  She would suggest strengthening the laws relating to subdivisions in which roads cross

more than one town, since that is an issue with a subdivision proposed in Sutton.  She said there is also

discussion about proposing a state franchise requirement for cable companies.  Ms. Levine referred to a

draft letter to Reps. Foose and Kidder opposing HB 1236 that would require publication of town funds

related to electioneering. She will send that to the representatives later that day.  Chair Kaplan suggested a

law change that would allow towns to collect a ½% transfer tax on real estate transfers.  Mr. Lyon said

that sounds like a backdoor impact fee on buyers of property.

Health Officer Award: Ms. Levine said she had received a copy of a letter from the Department of Health

and Human Services awarding Dr. Donald Bent with the Roger Fossum Lifetime Achievement Award for

public health.  There will be an awards ceremony on April 5.  The Selectmen complimented Dr. Bent on

his receipt of the award.

Chair Kaplan moved to nominated Mr. Lyon as Chair of the Board of Selectmen for 2006.  Second Ms.

Clough and approved 3-0.  Ms. Clough will stay on the Planning Board and Mr. Kaplan will serve on the

Budget Committee.

Chair Kaplan asked to go into non-public session to discuss personnel matters pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II

(a) and a litigation matter pursuant to RSA 91-A:3 II (e).  Second Mr. Lyon and roll call vote: Lyon – yes;

Kaplan – yes; Clough – yes.

Upon returning to public session the Selectmen signed the documents below.

Building Permits:

• NONE

Sign Permit Applications:

• NONE

Other Items for Signature:

• Disbursement & Payroll Voucher for the week of March 20, 2006 – Approved

• Application for Property Tax Credit/Exemptions - Denied

• Application for State of New Hampshire Elderly and Disabled Tax Deferral - Approved

• Abatement Recommendation:

Paul and Dorothy Ambrose, Michael DiFabio, 1555 King Hill Road (Map 129, Lot 011) - Approved

There being no further business, the Board of Selectmen adjourned the meeting at 10:35 AM.

Respectfully submitted,

Jessie W. Levine

Town Administrator


